LOWER PROVIDENCE TOWNSHIP
PLANNING COMMISSION
JULY 22,2009 MEETING MINUTES

1. Call to Order:

A. Chairman Schlack called the Planning Commission meeting to order at 7:30 p.m.
2. Pledge of Allegiance
3. Roll Call:

A. The following planning commission members were present: Mr. Bodek, Mr. Brooke, Mr.
Endlich, Mr. Kuberski, Mr. Rutledge, Mr. Schlack, Mr. Stemple, and Ms. Zimmerman.

B. Mrs. Satterwhite was excused.
C. Additional attendees included: Ms. Jean Holland, Montgomery County Planning Commission,

Mrs. Marie Altieri, Board of Supervisors Liaison, and Mr. Nathaniel Dysard, Project Analyst.

4. Approval of Planning Commission Previous Meeting Minutes:
A. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes for May 27, 2009:

1. MOTION — Mr. Stemple made a motion to approve the May 27, 2009 meeting minutes. Mr.
Endlich seconded the motion.

a) Mr. Rutledge noted that for items 9, 11 and 12 he should be listed and not Mr. Kuberski.

b) MOTION VOTE — The motion passed 7-0-1. Mr. Bodek abstained from the vote because
he did not attend that meeting.

5. Subdivision and Land Development Reviews:
A. S-09-02 — 1414 Wetherill Road (Barry) Minor Subdivision for Preliminary and Final Plan

Approval:

1. Mr. Michael Furey, Esq., was present to represent the applicants Brad and Janet Barry, also
present. Mr. Glen Gilcheski, the project engineer, was also in attendance.

2. Mr. Furey explained that this was a request to subdivide an existing “L” shaped lot into two
lots, with one fronting on Catherine Road and the other on Wetherill Road. They attended a
Township staff meeting at the beginning of the process to discuss the project, and have
received review letters fro Chambers Associates, resolving most of those matters.

3. Mr. Furey noted that they would request waivers from the installation of curbs, sidewalks and
storm sewers.

4. Mr. Bodek asked if the Chambers request to move the rain tank had been addressed? Mr.
Gilcheski indicated that it had been moved on the plans.

5. Mr. Stemple commented that requesting a waiver from sidewalks just because there are no
others in the area is not a good reason, and asked why a waiver should be granted?

a) Mr. Furey noted there is nothing for a sidewalk to connect to.

b) Ms. Zimmerman asked if this was an established neighborhood? Mr. Furey indicated that
it was.

c) Mr. Stemple commented that he has a problem with everyone wanting a waiver from
sidewalk installation. The Board of Supervisors passed an ordinance requiring them, and
just because they do not currently exist in a neighborhood does not make that right.

d) Mr. Schlack commented on his home, where the builder was made to install the sidewalks,
but no one else has them.

e) Ms. Zimmerman indicated that in this type of situation, she is OK with this waiver because
it is an established neighborhood.

Lower Providence Township Planning Commission
July 22, 2009 Meeting Minutes 1of5



f) Mr. Bodek questioned how many other lots in the area could be divided?

g) Mr. Brad Barry, the owner, indicated there were no other large lots in this area. He
reviewed the traffic flow, layout of the streets, and noted most people go to Pawlings
Circle to walk.

h) Ms. Zimmerman noted that the Chambers letter also calls for storm sewers and curbing to
be installed, and if a waiver is requested it should be subject to construction in the future if
requested by the Township and noted as such on the plans.

1) Mrs. Altieri indicated she would also like sidewalks to be required in that plan note. Mr.
Stemple indicated he would be OK with that.

6. Mr. Kuberski asked if there was enough build-able area on the lot? Mr. Gilcheski indicated
that there was, with about 24,000 sq. ft. for lot two.

7. Mr. Stemple asked about having a new address created for the new lot. Mr. Gilcheski
commented that he would have to contact the post office about that, or the Township would
assign one.

8. Ms. Holland asked if the landscaping comments were addressed?

a) Mr. Gilcheski never received a review letter from CMX. Ms. Holland state that they need
to provide a tree replacement calculation and identify what materials will be selected as
replacements.

b) Mr. Gilcheski has prepared a natural resources plan as required by Ordinance 576. They
will get a credit for the remaining trees, so even with removing 20 trees no replacement
trees are required.

c) Mr. Barry noted that he still intends to plant trees.

d) Ms. Holland reiterated that they would have to identify the tree replacement number.

e) Mrs. Altieri stated that before this comes to the BOS, they will need a clean review letter
from CMX and provide up to date plans.

f) Ms. Holland noted that per the ordinance, they are required to obtain a signoff on the
landscaping plan from CMX.

9. Mrs. Altieri asked if they would comply with the remaining items on the Chambers review
letter? After some discussion it became known that a subsequent review letter from Chambers
was not distributed to the PC. Mr. Furey distributed this June 26, 2009 letter, which indicated
that all comments have been addressed.

10. MOTION — Ms. Zimmerman made a motion to recommend the following approvals and
conditions for this plan:

a) Approval of the waiver from Section 123-32, curbs and storm sewers on Catherine Road
and Wetherill Road;

b) Approval of the waiver from Section 123-33, sidewalks along Catherine Road and
Wetherill Road, both of these waivers are contingent upon a note being placed on the plan
requiring the property owner to install curbs, storm sewers and sidewalks in the future if
required by the Township;

c) Requirement of a clean review letter from CMX landscaping;

d) Approval for the preliminary and final plan.

e) MOTION SECOND & VOTE — Mr. Endlich seconded the motion. The motion passed
8-0.

11. There were no public comments on this application.

B. S-09-03 — 25 Featherbed Lane (Shrawder) Major Subdivision for Preliminary Plan Approval:

Lower Providence Township Planning Commission
July 22, 2009 Meeting Minutes 20f5



1. Mr. Christopher Martincic, P.E., Project Manager with Yerkes Associates, Inc., was present to
discuss this application for Mr. and Mrs. Shrawder.

2. Mr. Martincic reviewed existing features of the site, including a single-family dwelling, a barn
and various outbuildings. The parcel is zoned R2 Residential, allowing construction of single-
family homes on 25,000 sq. ft. lots. The applicant proposes subdividing the parcel into five
lots, all of which meet area and bulk requirements, and are a by right subdivision and use. A
275’ cul-de-sac will be constructed to provide access to the lots.

3. Mr. Martincic indicated that all but three items will be complied with from the Chambers
Associates June 15, 2009 review letter. They will also address concerns in the review from the
Sewer Authority. The plan proposes the construction of three below ground and one above
ground storm water basin.

4. Ms. Zimmerman requested that the request for a waiver from sidewalk installation be
explained, as it is important to install sidewalks where they are appropriate.

a) Mr. Martincic commented that this cul-de-sac only serves a few lots and noted there was
an issue with cost.

b) Mr. Endlich replied that the next development up the street has sidewalks, and that cost is
not a valid argument for a waiver with a five-lot subdivision.

c) Chairman Schlack concurred; noting a subdivision of this size requires sidewalks.

d) Mr. Bodek suggested installation of partial sidewalks, up one side of the street.

e) Ms. Zimmerman remarked that she would like to see sidewalks installed around the entire
development on both sides, which was echoed among most PC members.

5. Ms. Zimmerman questioned the waiver from basin depth. The applicant proposes a 6’ basin
with no fencing, where the depth of no greater than 4’ is permitted.

a) Mr. Martincic indicated that the stormwater improvements create an extreme hardship.

b) Mr. Endlich questioned what that hardship was? Mr. Martincic stated they were having
difficulty fitting the stormwater requirements on the parcel.

c) Chairman Schlack noted that three underground basins were proposed, and asked why they
don’t use four? Mr. Martincic stated that he was not sure they could make the volume, and
that this was an economic hardship. Mr. Endlich commented that stormwater management
is not a hardship.

d) Mr. Brooke commented that if a basin were to be 6 deep, a fence would be required. Mr.
Endlich stated a fence was necessary with a 4’ basin, from a safety perspective.

e) Mr. Schlack asked who was responsible for the retention basin? Mr. Martincic indicated
that the homeowner of lot five was responsible for the basin.

f) There was a discussion of possibly reconfiguring the lots, moving the basin or including
the fourth underground basin. Mr. Martincic indicated that grading would impact the
ability to install the basin.

6. Ms. Zimmerman noted that there were a lot of comments on the Chambers review letter. She
asked if the applicant would be able to comply with them?

a) Mr. Martincic noted that he could comply with most of them, but indicated that the only
one he has problems with is the basin depth.

b) Mr. Kuberski suggested sliding the cul-de-sac circle back toward lot three, which could
free up some space for the basin.

c) Mr. Martincic was not sure how this would work with the reverse curve. He looked at
many different layouts. He can review this again, but had problem with pinching the
building envelopes in past variations of the plan.

Lower Providence Township Planning Commission
July 22, 2009 Meeting Minutes 30of5



d) There was a discussion regarding how runoff from the houses would get to the
underground basins. Mr. Martincic indicated they would comply with DEP regulations.

He will contact Mr. Manai to confirm that the intent was to pipe the water underground.

e) There appeared to be a consensus that the water should go into the ground, into seepage
beds, and be piped underground. Mr. Martincic noted that Chambers asked that it be tied
into existing storm sewer on Featherbed Lane, which they will do.

f) A lengthy discussion regarding stormwater occurred. Mr. Martincic explained what is
being proposed, and will work with the Township Engineer to address any issues.

7. Ms. Holland noted that they do not have tree replacement calculations. A lot of trees are being
removed on sheet 2 of the plan, and they need to be identified prior to going to the BOS. Mr.
Martincic will comply with this request; he did not receive a copy of CMX’s letter.

8. Waiver Requests:

a) Section 123-33 — Installation of sidewalks:

(1) MOTION — Ms. Zimmerman made a motion to deny this waiver request. Mr. Brooke
seconded the motion. The motion passed 8-0.

(2) Mr. Paul Hofgesang, 1004 Skyline Circle, requested that a burm be installed to address
issues relating to stormwater runoff, particularly from lot three. Mr. Hofgesang used
sheet seven of the plans to show how water flows in relation to the grading that is
proposed and negatively impact the houses on Skyline. He requested a burm be
installed along the property line to direct the water into the swale.

(3) Mr. Martincic asked if he had permission to go onto Mr. Hofgesang’s property to
survey this area so they could get it correct? Mr. Hofgesang indicated that he could.

(4) Mr. Hofgesang identified trees that would be removed when the burm was installed
and indicated that they should be noted as being removed on the plan.

(5) Mr. Hofgesang noted that Mr. Bacon at 1006 Skyline was also present this evening,
and that the Roses at 1008 Skyline could not attend the meeting this evening, but all
share this concern. He explained that they came out for the meeting in June, however
that meeting must have been cancelled.

(6) Mr. Hofgesang expressed his concerns in a letter to Mr. Siegel back in May, prior to
his leave. Chairman Schlack requested that Mr. Dysard forward a copy of this letter to
the PC.

(7) Mr. Endlich suggested that the burm run the length of the property.

b) Section 123-104.D.3 — Maximum basin depth of 4°, the applicant proposes 6’:

(1) MOTION - Mr. Brooke made a motion to deny this waiver request. Mr. Endlich
seconded the motion. The motion passed 8-0.

c) Section 123-104.D.15.A — Requirement for fencing around a basin:

(1) MOTION — Mr. Brooke made a motion to deny this waiver request. Ms. Zimmerman
seconded the motion. The motion passed 8-0.

9. Mr. Endlich remarked that this plan should be tabled to provide time for the applicant to
address the issues discussed this evening, including installation of the burm to create a swale
behind lots 2 & 3, and place trees on top of the burm. The Chambers review letter should be
clean the next time this plan is discussed with the PC.

10. Ms. Holland noted that the 90-day clock would expire on August 25, 2009, so the applicant
would need to request an extension. Mr. Martincic indicated he would request the extension.

11. MOTION — Mr. Endlich made a motion to table this application, and have the applicant
request a 90-day extension. Mr. Stemple seconded the motion. The motion passed 8-0.

6. Other Business:

Lower Providence Township Planning Commission
July 22, 2009 Meeting Minutes 40of5




A. Old Business — None
B. New Business — None
7. Adjourn

A. MOTION — Mr. Stemple made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Mr. Bodek seconded the
motion. The motion passed 8-0. The meeting ended at 8:42 p.m.

Next Meeting:  August 26, 2009 — Regular Meeting

Lower Providence Township Planning Commission
July 22, 2009 Meeting Minutes 50f5



	LOWER PROVIDENCE TOWNSHIP
	JULY 22, 2009 MEETING MINUTES
	 
	4. Approval of Planning Commission Previous Meeting Minutes:
	A. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes for May 27, 2009:
	1. MOTION – Mr. Stemple made a motion to approve the May 27, 2009 meeting minutes.  Mr. Endlich seconded the motion.  
	a) Mr. Rutledge noted that for items 9, 11 and 12 he should be listed and not Mr. Kuberski.
	b) MOTION VOTE – The motion passed 7-0-1.  Mr. Bodek abstained from the vote because he did not attend that meeting.
	5. Subdivision and Land Development Reviews:
	A. S-09-02 – 1414 Wetherill Road (Barry) Minor Subdivision for Preliminary and Final Plan Approval:
	1. Mr. Michael Furey, Esq., was present to represent the applicants Brad and Janet Barry, also present.  Mr. Glen Gilcheski, the project engineer, was also in attendance. 
	2. Mr. Furey explained that this was a request to subdivide an existing “L” shaped lot into two lots, with one fronting on Catherine Road and the other on Wetherill Road.  They attended a Township staff meeting at the beginning of the process to discuss the project, and have received review letters fro Chambers Associates, resolving most of those matters.
	3. Mr. Furey noted that they would request waivers from the installation of curbs, sidewalks and storm sewers.  
	4. Mr. Bodek asked if the Chambers request to move the rain tank had been addressed?  Mr. Gilcheski indicated that it had been moved on the plans.
	5. Mr. Stemple commented that requesting a waiver from sidewalks just because there are no others in the area is not a good reason, and asked why a waiver should be granted?
	a) Mr. Furey noted there is nothing for a sidewalk to connect to.
	b) Ms. Zimmerman asked if this was an established neighborhood?  Mr. Furey indicated that it was.  
	c) Mr. Stemple commented that he has a problem with everyone wanting a waiver from sidewalk installation.  The Board of Supervisors passed an ordinance requiring them, and just because they do not currently exist in a neighborhood does not make that right.
	d) Mr. Schlack commented on his home, where the builder was made to install the sidewalks, but no one else has them. 
	e) Ms. Zimmerman indicated that in this type of situation, she is OK with this waiver because it is an established neighborhood. 
	f) Mr. Bodek questioned how many other lots in the area could be divided?  
	g) Mr. Brad Barry, the owner, indicated there were no other large lots in this area.  He reviewed the traffic flow, layout of the streets, and noted most people go to Pawlings Circle to walk.
	h) Ms. Zimmerman noted that the Chambers letter also calls for storm sewers and curbing to be installed, and if a waiver is requested it should be subject to construction in the future if requested by the Township and noted as such on the plans.  
	i) Mrs. Altieri indicated she would also like sidewalks to be required in that plan note.  Mr. Stemple indicated he would be OK with that.
	6. Mr. Kuberski asked if there was enough build-able area on the lot?  Mr. Gilcheski indicated that there was, with about 24,000 sq. ft. for lot two.
	7. Mr. Stemple asked about having a new address created for the new lot.  Mr. Gilcheski commented that he would have to contact the post office about that, or the Township would assign one.
	8. Ms. Holland asked if the landscaping comments were addressed?
	a) Mr. Gilcheski never received a review letter from CMX.  Ms. Holland state that they need to provide a tree replacement calculation and identify what materials will be selected as replacements.  
	b) Mr. Gilcheski has prepared a natural resources plan as required by Ordinance 576.  They will get a credit for the remaining trees, so even with removing 20 trees no replacement trees are required.
	c) Mr. Barry noted that he still intends to plant trees.
	d) Ms. Holland reiterated that they would have to identify the tree replacement number.
	e) Mrs. Altieri stated that before this comes to the BOS, they will need a clean review letter from CMX and provide up to date plans.
	f) Ms. Holland noted that per the ordinance, they are required to obtain a signoff on the landscaping plan from CMX.
	9. Mrs. Altieri asked if they would comply with the remaining items on the Chambers review letter?  After some discussion it became known that a subsequent review letter from Chambers was not distributed to the PC.  Mr. Furey distributed this June 26, 2009 letter, which indicated that all comments have been addressed.
	10. MOTION – Ms. Zimmerman made a motion to recommend the following approvals and conditions for this plan:
	a) Approval of the waiver from Section 123-32, curbs and storm sewers on Catherine Road and Wetherill Road;
	b) Approval of the waiver from Section 123-33, sidewalks along Catherine Road and Wetherill Road, both of these waivers are contingent upon a note being placed on the plan requiring the property owner to install curbs, storm sewers and sidewalks in the future if required by the Township;
	c) Requirement of a clean review letter from CMX landscaping;
	d) Approval for the preliminary and final plan.  
	e) MOTION SECOND & VOTE – Mr. Endlich seconded the motion.  The motion passed 8-0.
	11. There were no public comments on this application.
	B. S-09-03 – 25 Featherbed Lane (Shrawder) Major Subdivision for Preliminary Plan Approval:
	1. Mr. Christopher Martincic, P.E., Project Manager with Yerkes Associates, Inc., was present to discuss this application for Mr. and Mrs. Shrawder.
	2. Mr. Martincic reviewed existing features of the site, including a single-family dwelling, a barn and various outbuildings.  The parcel is zoned R2 Residential, allowing construction of single-family homes on 25,000 sq. ft. lots.  The applicant proposes subdividing the parcel into five lots, all of which meet area and bulk requirements, and are a by right subdivision and use.  A 275’ cul-de-sac will be constructed to provide access to the lots.
	3. Mr. Martincic indicated that all but three items will be complied with from the Chambers Associates June 15, 2009 review letter.  They will also address concerns in the review from the Sewer Authority.  The plan proposes the construction of three below ground and one above ground storm water basin.
	4. Ms. Zimmerman requested that the request for a waiver from sidewalk installation be explained, as it is important to install sidewalks where they are appropriate.
	a) Mr. Martincic commented that this cul-de-sac only serves a few lots and noted there was an issue with cost.
	b) Mr. Endlich replied that the next development up the street has sidewalks, and that cost is not a valid argument for a waiver with a five-lot subdivision.
	c) Chairman Schlack concurred; noting a subdivision of this size requires sidewalks.
	d) Mr. Bodek suggested installation of partial sidewalks, up one side of the street.
	e) Ms. Zimmerman remarked that she would like to see sidewalks installed around the entire development on both sides, which was echoed among most PC members.
	5. Ms. Zimmerman questioned the waiver from basin depth.  The applicant proposes a 6’ basin with no fencing, where the depth of no greater than 4’ is permitted.
	a) Mr. Martincic indicated that the stormwater improvements create an extreme hardship.
	b) Mr. Endlich questioned what that hardship was?  Mr. Martincic stated they were having difficulty fitting the stormwater requirements on the parcel.
	c) Chairman Schlack noted that three underground basins were proposed, and asked why they don’t use four?  Mr. Martincic stated that he was not sure they could make the volume, and that this was an economic hardship.  Mr. Endlich commented that stormwater management is not a hardship.
	d) Mr. Brooke commented that if a basin were to be 6’ deep, a fence would be required.  Mr. Endlich stated a fence was necessary with a 4’ basin, from a safety perspective.
	e) Mr. Schlack asked who was responsible for the retention basin?  Mr. Martincic indicated that the homeowner of lot five was responsible for the basin.
	f) There was a discussion of possibly reconfiguring the lots, moving the basin or including the fourth underground basin.  Mr. Martincic indicated that grading would impact the ability to install the basin.
	6. Ms. Zimmerman noted that there were a lot of comments on the Chambers review letter.  She asked if the applicant would be able to comply with them?  
	a) Mr. Martincic noted that he could comply with most of them, but indicated that the only one he has problems with is the basin depth.
	b) Mr. Kuberski suggested sliding the cul-de-sac circle back toward lot three, which could free up some space for the basin.
	c) Mr. Martincic was not sure how this would work with the reverse curve.  He looked at many different layouts.  He can review this again, but had problem with pinching the building envelopes in past variations of the plan.
	d) There was a discussion regarding how runoff from the houses would get to the underground basins.  Mr. Martincic indicated they would comply with DEP regulations.  He will contact Mr. Manai to confirm that the intent was to pipe the water underground.
	e) There appeared to be a consensus that the water should go into the ground, into seepage beds, and be piped underground.  Mr. Martincic noted that Chambers asked that it be tied into existing storm sewer on Featherbed Lane, which they will do.
	f) A lengthy discussion regarding stormwater occurred.  Mr. Martincic explained what is being proposed, and will work with the Township Engineer to address any issues. 
	7. Ms. Holland noted that they do not have tree replacement calculations.  A lot of trees are being removed on sheet 2 of the plan, and they need to be identified prior to going to the BOS.  Mr. Martincic will comply with this request; he did not receive a copy of CMX’s letter.
	8. Waiver Requests:
	a) Section 123-33 – Installation of sidewalks:
	(1) MOTION – Ms. Zimmerman made a motion to deny this waiver request.  Mr. Brooke seconded the motion.  The motion passed 8-0.
	(2) Mr. Paul Hofgesang, 1004 Skyline Circle, requested that a burm be installed to address issues relating to stormwater runoff, particularly from lot three.  Mr. Hofgesang used sheet seven of the plans to show how water flows in relation to the grading that is proposed and negatively impact the houses on Skyline.  He requested a burm be installed along the property line to direct the water into the swale.
	(3) Mr. Martincic asked if he had permission to go onto Mr. Hofgesang’s property to survey this area so they could get it correct?  Mr. Hofgesang indicated that he could.  
	(4) Mr. Hofgesang identified trees that would be removed when the burm was installed and indicated that they should be noted as being removed on the plan.
	(5) Mr. Hofgesang noted that Mr. Bacon at 1006 Skyline was also present this evening, and that the Roses at 1008 Skyline could not attend the meeting this evening, but all share this concern.  He explained that they came out for the meeting in June, however that meeting must have been cancelled.  
	(6) Mr. Hofgesang expressed his concerns in a letter to Mr. Siegel back in May, prior to his leave.  Chairman Schlack requested that Mr. Dysard forward a copy of this letter to the PC.
	(7) Mr. Endlich suggested that the burm run the length of the property.
	b) Section 123-104.D.3 – Maximum basin depth of 4’, the applicant proposes 6’:
	(1) MOTION – Mr. Brooke made a motion to deny this waiver request.  Mr. Endlich seconded the motion.  The motion passed 8-0.
	c) Section 123-104.D.15.A – Requirement for fencing around a basin:
	(1) MOTION – Mr. Brooke made a motion to deny this waiver request.  Ms. Zimmerman seconded the motion.  The motion passed 8-0.
	9. Mr. Endlich remarked that this plan should be tabled to provide time for the applicant to address the issues discussed this evening, including installation of the burm to create a swale behind lots 2 & 3, and place trees on top of the burm.  The Chambers review letter should be clean the next time this plan is discussed with the PC.
	10. Ms. Holland noted that the 90-day clock would expire on August 25, 2009, so the applicant would need to request an extension.  Mr. Martincic indicated he would request the extension.
	11. MOTION – Mr. Endlich made a motion to table this application, and have the applicant request a 90-day extension.  Mr. Stemple seconded the motion.  The motion passed 8-0.
	6. Other Business:
	A. Old Business – None 
	B. New Business – None
	7. Adjourn
	A. MOTION – Mr. Stemple made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Mr. Bodek seconded the motion.  The motion passed 8-0.  The meeting ended at 8:42 p.m.



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


